IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

HORIZONS AT SEVEN HILLS HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

v.

IKON HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 63178 Electronically Filed District Court Case Nov 2A-2013/39:27 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Patrick J. Reilly, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 6103 Nicole E. Lovelock, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 11187 HOLLAND & HART LLP 9555 Hillwood Drive, Second Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 (702) 669-4600

Kurt R. Bonds, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 6228 ALVERSON, TAYLOR, MORTENSEN & SANDERS 7401 West Charleston Boulevard Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 (702) 384-7000

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. NRS 116.3116(2) provides a statutory "super-priority" lien in favor of homeowners' associations in the event of a foreclosure by the holder of a first security interest on a common interest unit. This "super-priority" lien includes unpaid assessments, as well as fees and costs of collection. Is the statutory "super-priority" lien numerically limited to so-called "nine times monthly assessments" and no more?

2. The Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (the "CC&Rs") for Horizons provide a separate contractual "super-priority" lien in favor of homeowners associations in the event of a foreclosure by the holder of a first security interest. This "super-priority lien" includes unpaid assessments, as well as fees and costs of collection. Is the contractual "super priority" lien numerically limited to so-called "six times monthly assessments" and no more?

3. Did the lower court err when it failed to consider undisputed evidence demonstrating the unreasonable and absurd results arising from Ikon's interpretation of NRS 116.3116(2) and the CC&Rs?

4. Did the lower court err when it failed to give great deference to an Advisory Opinion issued by the Commission for Common Interest Communities and Condominium Hotels (the "CCICCH") that expressly rejected Ikon's interpretation of NRS 116.3116(2)?

5. In *State v. Nevada Ass'n Services, Inc.*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 294 P.3d 1223 (2012), this Court held that the CCICCH is "solely responsible for determining the type and amount of fees that may be collected by associations." Did the lower court err by failing to follow this binding precedent?

6. NRS 116.3116 creates a statutory priority lien separate and apart from the contractual priority lien that was created in the CC&Rs. Do these liens operate independently of one another? In other words, to the extent that there are differences between the two liens, does one lien control over or supersede the other?

STANDARDS FOR REVIEW

When a district court's decision to grant declaratory relief depends on a pure question of law, the review is *de novo*.¹ Questions of statutory construction are also a question of law that this Court must review *de novo*.²

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action involved a dispute between Appellant Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Association ("Horizons") and Respondent Ikon Holdings, LLC ("Ikon") over the meaning and interpretation of NRS 116.3116 and the Horizons CC&Rs. Ikon, a real estate investment company, commenced the lower court action, seeking declaratory relief and money damages on the following issues: (1) whether NRS 116.3116(2) limited Horizons' association superpriority lien to "nine times monthly assessments"; (2) whether the CC&Rs limited Horizons' association super-priority lien to "six times monthly assessments"; (3) whether the commencement of a civil lawsuit was a condition precedent to the assertion of any kind of super-priority lien; and (4) whether Ikon was entitled to money damages simply based upon Horizons' disagreement with Ikon over the amount of the lien.

On summary judgment, the lower court concluded as a matter of law that Horizons' lien was limited strictly to "six times monthly assessments" and no more. The lower court rejected Ikon's claim for

¹ Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs, 129 Nev. ---, ---, 293 P.3d 874, 878 (2013).

² Weddell v. H2O, Inc., 128 Nev. ---, ---, 271 P.3d 743, 748 (2012); Borger v. District Ct., 120 Nev. 1021, 1026, 102 P.3d 600, 604 (2004).

money damages and its argument that the filing of a civil lawsuit was a prerequisite to asserting a super-priority lien.³

At trial, the parties stipulated (based upon the court's prior legal rulings) that the sum of six months' worth of assessments equaled \$1,140.00. That amount was tendered by Ikon just prior to trial in exchange for a lien release by Horizons. Final judgment was thereafter entered consistent with the lower court's prior rulings. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Statutory "Super-Priority" Liens Under NRS 116.3116.

Most of the rules of law that form the foundation of this appeal are straightforward and agreed upon by the parties. Nevada law allows homeowners associations to impose assessments against their unit owners.⁴ In the event of a default by a unit owner, the association may impose fees and charges to collect those unpaid assessments.⁵ Such fees must be reasonable, and may be collected by the association directly, or by a third-party, such as a property manager or a collection agency.⁶ To prevent excessive fees against unit owners, collection fees are capped by regulation.⁷ Nevada law also provides a statutory lien to the association upon the amounts that are owed to the associations.⁸

³ Ikon did not appeal either of these determinations.

⁴ NRS 116.3102.

⁵ NRS 116.3102(k); NRS 116.310313(1).

⁶ NRS 116.310313(1,2).

⁷ NAC 116.470.

⁸ NRS 116.3116(1); Appellant's Appendix ("AA") 0825-0826.

In the event of a foreclosure conducted by the association, the association recovers all of its unpaid lien, plus its collection fees and costs, before any other lien is satisfied.⁹

A slightly different result occurs, however, when a first security interest conducts a foreclosure that takes place before the association forecloses. In that instance, NRS 116.3116(2) governs. The rule provides that the association lien is senior to that of the first security interest holder "to the extent of assessments for common expenses . . . which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to foreclose the lien "¹⁰

This is where the litigants part company. Ikon maintains the foregoing phrase means the association can recover a numeric maximum of "nine times monthly assessments" and no more, regardless of what amounts the association might have incurred in its own attempts to collect prior to foreclosure by the first security interest holder.

However, such a simple numeric equation—which could have easily been written into the statute—simply is not present in NRS 116.3116(2). Rather, the rule is a "look-back" provision for the nine months leading up to foreclosure. In other words, NRS 116.3116(2) is designed to place the association in the same position it would have been financially ("to the extent of")¹¹ as if there had been no default

⁹ NRS 116.31164(3)(c) (providing recovery of all reasonable expenses of sale, reasonable expenses of securing possession before sale, attorney's fees and other legal expenses incurred by the association).

¹⁰ NRS 116.3116(2).

¹¹ NRS 116.3116(2).

by the unit owner ("which would have become due in the absence of acceleration")¹² for the nine months prior to foreclosure. While this amount includes recovery of all unpaid assessments arising during the nine months prior to foreclosure, it also necessarily includes the collection fees and costs that were incurred by the association during that same period. Otherwise, the association is not compensated "to the extent of" the amounts it would have received "in the absence of acceleration."

B. Contractual "Super-Priority" Liens Under The CC&Rs.

A similar dispute exists with regard to the "super-priority" lien created by the CC&Rs. Here, Ikon maintains that the lien created by the CC&Rs is limited to a numeric maximum of "six times monthly assessments" and no more, regardless of what amounts the association might have incurred in its own attempts to collect prior to foreclosure by the first security interest holder. However, the CC&Rs expressly provide that unpaid collection fees and costs survive foreclosure. Significantly, the lower court ignored this key language (and thus the fee/cost portion of the equation) when entering summary judgment in favor of Ikon.

On June 7, 2005, Horizons executed the CC&Rs, which were created with the following express intent:

Declarant has deemed it desirable, for the efficient preservation of the value and amenities of the Properties pursuant to the provisions of this Declaration to organize the Association, to which shall be delegated and assigned the powers of owning, maintaining and administering the Common Elements (as defined herein), administering and enforcing the covenants and restrictions, and *collecting and disbursing the Assessments and charges hereinafter created*.

 $\overline{^{12}}$ Id.

Declarant will cause, or has caused, the Association to be formed for the purpose of exercising such functions....

NOW, THEREFORE, Declarant hereby declares that all of the Properties shall be held, sold, conveyed, encumbered, hypothecated, leased, used, occupied and improved subject to the provisions of this Declaration and to the following protective covenants, conditions, restrictions, reservations, easements, equitable servitudes, liens and charges, all of which are for the purpose of uniformly enhancing and protecting the value, attractiveness and desirability of the Properties, in furtherance of a general plan for the protection, maintenance, subdivision, improvement and sale and lease of the Properties or any portion thereof.

The covenants, conditions, restrictions, reservations, easements, and equitable servitudes set forth in this Declaration *shall run with and burden the Properties and shall be binding upon all Persons having or acquiring any right, title or interest in the Properties*, or any part thereof, and their heirs, successors and assigns; shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon, and may be enforced by, Declarant, the Association, each Owner and their respective heirs, executors and administrators, and successive owners and assigns.

On its face, the CC&Rs were designed specifically to fund the Common Elements through assessments, and to give Horizons the mechanism and ability to fund and maintain those improvements with obligations that ran with the land.

Importantly, though commonly used, the term "monthly assessment" is actually a misnomer. Pursuant to the CC&Rs, there is no such thing as a "monthly assessment." Rather, assessments are made annually, with the board directing whether payments are to be billed on a quarterly or monthly basis. The CC&Rs provide:

"<u>Assessment, Annual</u>" shall mean the annual or supplemental charge against each Owner and his Unit, representing a portion of the Common Expenses, which are to be paid in advance in equal periodic (monthly, or quarterly as determined from time to time by the Board) installments commencing on the Assessment Commencement Date, by

¹³ AA0162-63 (emphasis in original and added).

each Owner to the Association in the manner and at the times and proportions provided herein.¹⁴

This language defining "Assessment, Annual" precludes any notion that there is such a thing as "six times monthly assessments" in the CC&Rs or "nine times monthly assessments" under NRS 116.3116(2).

The CC&Rs also empower the Board to assess each unit, and personally obligate each Unit Owner to pay those assessments.¹⁵ The CC&Rs state as follows:

Each Owner of a Unit, by acceptance of a deed therefor, whether or not so expressed in such deed, is deemed to covenant and agree to pay to the Association: (a) Annual Assessments; (b) Specific Assessments; (c) Supplemental Assessments; (d) any Capital Assessments; and (e) any other charge levied by the Association on one or more Owner(s), such Assessments to be established and collected as provided in this Declaration. All Assessments, together with interest thereon, late charges, costs, and reasonable attorney's fees for the collection thereof, shall be a charge on the Unit and shall be a continuing lien upon the Unit against which such assessment is made

Recording of the CC&Rs creates notice and perfection of a contractual lien for assessments. *Id.* The CC&Rs were recorded on July 6, 2005. AA0160.

As a result, the CC&Rs create a *contractual* lien that is separate and distinct from the *statutory* lien created by NRS 116.3116.¹⁷

Section 7.9 of the CC&Rs establishes the priority of the assessment lien, and is similar in many respects to NRS 116.3116. Section 7.9 establishes the supremacy of the assessment lien, carves

¹⁴ AA0163.

¹⁵ AA0175 at § 5.1 and AA0180 § 6.1.

¹⁶ AA0180-0181 at § 6.1 (emphasis added).

¹⁷ *Cf.* NRS 116.3116 to AA0180-0181 at § 6.1.

out an exception for a first deed of trust, and then re-affirms the supremacy of the lien for amounts "which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the six (6) months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien \dots ."¹⁸

Significantly, Section 7.9 continues as follows:

The sale or transfer of any Unit shall not affect an assessment lien. However, subject to the foregoing provision of this Section 7.9, the sale or transfer of any Unit pursuant to judicial or non-judicial foreclosure of a First Mortgage shall extinguish the lien of such assessment as to payments which became due prior to such sale or transfer.

Id. (emphasis added). In other words, by the very terms of the CC&Rs, the assessment lien is not extinguished as to interest, costs, and fees, but only as to "payments which became due," which are junior in priority to the first deed of trust. The amounts that are due for interest, fees, and costs remain as a "charge on the unit and shall be a continuing lien upon the Unit \ldots "¹⁹

Significantly, it was undisputed before the lower court that the intent of the CC&Rs was such that interest, collection fees, and costs would not be extinguished by a foreclosure upon a first deed of trust.²⁰ In particular, Lauren Scheer, Vice-President of APS Management (the original property manager for Horizons), declared under oath that it was understood "[f]rom the beginning of the development" the CC&Rs did not allow for the extinguishment of an assessment lien as to interest, collection fees, and costs after a foreclosure by the holder

¹⁸ AA0184 at § 7.9.

¹⁹ AA0180-0181 at § 6.1.

²⁰ AA1736-1738.

of a first security interest in a unit.²¹ Ikon never offered any evidence of its own to contradict this declaration.

C. Common-Interest Communities and Collection of Assessments

Horizons is a common-interest community which operates in accordance with NRS Chapter 116.²² As a common-interest community, it has the power to assess unit owners for the purpose of benefitting the community.²³

Horizons, along with most other common-interest communities in Nevada, lack the resources, staff, and ability to pursue collections on their own.²⁴ As such, Horizons originally engaged a property manager, and later a third-party collection agency, to collect unpaid assessments on its behalf.²⁵

Under both the CC&Rs and NRS Chapter 116, Horizons is allowed to charge for the costs of collecting any past due obligation, regardless of whether the past due obligation is collected by the association or a third-party debt collector.²⁶ It is undisputed that common-interest communities possess a lien upon the unit for any such collection fees and costs and that such fees and costs are lienable as assessments "unless the declaration otherwise provides"²⁷ In this case, the CC&Rs specifically provided that collection fees and

²⁵ Id.

 $^{^{21}}Id.$

²² AA1688.

²³ AA0162; see NRS 116.3102.

²⁴ AA1736-38; AA1742-45.

²⁶ AA0180-0181 at § 6.1; NRS 116.310313.

²⁷ NRS 116.3116(1).

costs are lienable.²⁸

Significantly, there were a number of *undisputed facts* before the lower court concerning common-interest communities such as Horizons and their ability to collect past due assessments, including the following:

- Almost without exception, unit owners who are in default with their lenders simultaneously default on their obligations to their common-interest communities. This results in unpaid assessments and neglected and/or blighted properties.
- Horizons and other common-interest communities must take active steps to have any chance of recovering amounts that are past due, including preparing and recording various notices and mailings that are required by NRS Chapter 116.
 Specific examples of the various tasks that must be performed by associations (and the amounts that may be charged) are recognized and specifically authorized by NAC 116.470.
- For years, common-interest communities like Horizons have retained third-parties such as property managers and collection agencies to pursue unpaid amounts due from unit owners. This is because common-interest communities rarely have the resources, staff, or ability to pursue collections on their own.
- Without collection agencies or property managers to pursue past due charges, common-interest communities would have

²⁸ AA0184 at § 7.9.

little or no ability to enforce their rights to collect said charges from homeowners who do not pay voluntarily, thereby increasing the costs to those homeowners who are not delinquent.

- In addition to collection fees, Horizons and other commoninterest communities like it also are forced to incur out-ofpocket costs, such as payments to title companies and publication costs, in advance of a foreclosure sale. The outof-pocket costs for publication and posting alone in advance of a foreclosure in Las Vegas are approximately \$500.00.
- Depending on the amount owed by the unit owner, the publication costs alone often exceed the "nine times" superpriority lien calculation proposed by Ikon in this case.
- Using the calculation proposed by Ikon, many commoninterest communities would never bother to pursue collection, as the out-of pocket costs alone would exceed the amount recoverable. For Horizons, collection would become cost prohibitive in most cases.
- If common-interest communities are unable to collect unpaid assessments, these communities would become blighted and neglected. In addition, the financial burden of paying for community expenses would fall upon the innocent unit owners who are actually following the rules and paying their obligations.
- At the time that the CC&Rs were drafted, recovery of interest, late fees, and costs of collection as part of the super-priority lien was and had been common practice in the

industry for years. The CC&Rs reflected that reality in the industry at the time and were applied in that manner.²⁹

Again, none of these facts were disputed by Ikon. They were simply ignored by the lower court.

In 2007, Horizons engaged Nevada Association Services, Inc. ("NAS") to pursue collections of unpaid assessments and penalties, and then renewed that engagement in 2009.³⁰ In making that engagement, Horizons specifically represented that the CC&Rs allowed for—and NAS could charge for—collection fees and costs. The Authorization states:

The Association permits NAS to charge collection fees and costs as provided under applicable State and Federal law, *and the Association's governing documents*.³¹

This is, of course, consistent with the application of the CC&Rs from day one, which was to allow for the recovery of collection fees and costs in the event of a foreclosure.³²

D. The Horizons Lien.

The subject property in this case is 950 Seven Hills Drive, #1411, Henderson, Nevada 89052, otherwise identified as Clark County Assessor Parcel Number 177-35-610-137 (the "Unit").³³ The parties agree that the Unit was subject to a lender's first deed of trust, which was foreclosed on June 28, 2010.³⁴ The purchaser at the sale,

²⁹ AA1736-1738; NAC 116.470.

³⁰ AA1740.

³¹*Id.* (emphasis added).

³² Cf. AA1736-38.

³³ See AA0217-31.

³⁴ See, e.g., AA0005.

Scott Ludwig, thereafter transferred the Property by Quitclaim Deed to Ikon.³⁵

At the time of the foreclosure sale, Horizons was owed the sum of \$1,747.50 in unpaid assessments and late fees.³⁶ In addition, Horizons had incurred significant collection fees and out-of-pocket costs, as it was pursuing its own default.³⁷ Those collection fees and costs totaled \$1,502.00.³⁸ In particular, Horizons incurred \$800.00 alone in trustee's fees and a trustee's sale guarantee that it was forced to pay as it moved forward with its own foreclosure that was cut short by the lender's foreclosure.³⁹

Ikon commenced the lower court action on September 6, 2011. AA0002. Ikon did not dispute that its unit was subject to the Horizons NRS Chapter 116 lien, agreed that part of the Horizons lien survived the lender's foreclosure pursuant to NRS 116.3116, and further agreed that Horizons' lien included collection fees and costs.⁴⁰ Rather, it maintained that Horizons was entitled to no more than six (6) times monthly assessments or, at most, nine (9) times monthly assessments pursuant to NRS 116.3116 and the CC&Rs.⁴¹ Ikon maintained that this amount is strictly capped at the monthly multiplier, regardless of how much Horizons had incurred in collection fees and costs.

³⁵ AA0261-64.

³⁶ AA0269.

³⁷ AA0269-70; AA1742-45.

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