## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 HORIZONS AT SEVEN HILLS HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, **Electronically Filed** 3 Feb 25 2014 10:47 a.m. 4 Tracie K. Lindeman Appellant, Clerk of Supreme Court 5 v. IKON HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 6 CASE NO. 63178 7 Dist. Ct. Case No. A-11-647850-B Respondent, 8 9 10 11 12 RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF 13 & RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF AMICUS CURIAE 14 15 ADAMS LAW GROUP, LTD. JAMES R. ADAMS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 6874 8010 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 260 Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 (702) 838-7200 (702) 838-3636 Fax 16 17 18 19 PUOY K. PREMSRIRUT, ESQ., INC. Puoy K. Premsrirut, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 7141 520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor Las Vegas,

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

III. ARGUMENT AT LAW

# A. Introduction of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act & NRS 116

months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien..." [which]

means a maximum figure equaling 9 times the association's regular, monthly (not

annual) assessments."27 "The words "to the extent of contained in NRS §116.3116(2)

mean "no more than," which clearly indicates a maximum figure or a cap on the Super

Priority Lien which cannot be exceeded."28 However, "To the extent that provisions

of CC&RS call for a lesser amount for the prioritized portion of the assessment lien

than does NRS 116.3116(2), the lesser amount shall be utilized as the prioritized

portion of the lien."29 The order of the lower court concerning the 9 month cap on the

super priority lien is consistent with at least 15 different court rulings in the Nevada

State Court<sup>30</sup> and at least 4 different rulings by the U.S. District Court in Nevada.<sup>31</sup>

The Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act ("UCIOA") was originally promulgated in 1982 by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws ("Uniform Law Commissioners" or "ULC").<sup>32</sup> In 1991, Nevada passed the UCIOA which is embodied in Nevada Revised Statutes §116. In a break with traditional lien priority law of "first in time, first in right,"<sup>33</sup> the UCIOA granted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> AA0972.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> AA0972.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> AA2092.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See Section E, *infr*a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See Section E, infra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> AA0275-0282.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See fn 4 and 5.

homeowners' associations a lien priority over first mortgages recorded before any assessment delinquency. However, as shall be noted below, the associations' lien priority is only available to a certain and limited extent. While an underlying association general lien may have been for a higher amount (as against the defaulting homeowner), the only amount which could achieve "super priority" status over the first security interest holder, and thereby bind a new owner who obtained title through the foreclosure auction, was an amount equaling 6 months of assessments.

## i. Intended as a Fixed Amount - Predictability Needed by All

Fundamentally, one of the principal tenets underling the super priority lien was the necessity for establishing a fixed amount, i.e., one that a lender could approximate prior to lending funds to a borrower who was purchasing within a common interest community. Predictability was required so that the lender could escrow, from the borrower's funds, the predetermined super priority lien amount in case the borrower failed to pay the assessments. Predictability was also ensured because the super priority lien was based on a multiple (6 months) of the assessment amount specifically found in an association's periodic budget. As noted in the comments section of the 1994 draft of the UCIOA:

To ensure prompt and efficient enforcement of the association's lien for unpaid assessments, such liens should enjoy statutory priority over most other liens. Accordingly, subsection (b) provides that the association's lien takes priority over all other liens and encumbrances except those recorded prior to the recordation of the declaration, those imposed for real estate taxes or other governmental assessments or charges against the unit, and first security interests recorded before the date the assessment became delinquent. However, as to prior first security interests the association's lien does have priority for six months' assessments based on the periodic budget. A significant departure from existing practice, the six months' priority for the assessment lien strikes an equitable balance between the need to enforce collection of unpaid assessments and the obvious necessity for protecting the priority of the security interests of lenders. As a practical matter, secured lenders will most likely pay the six months' assessments demanded by the association rather than having the association foreclose on the unit. If the lender wishes, an escrow for assessments can be required.

## (Comments, UCIOA 1994, page 159-160.)34

Thus, the drafters of the UCIOA concluded that secured lenders will most likely pay the six months' assessments rather than having the association foreclose on the unit. Indeed, because the lender would know what the monthly assessments were required prior to making its loan in an association, and since the lender would know based on §3-116 of the UCIOA that the super priority lien amount was limited to only 6 months of assessments, the lender could require the borrower to escrow, as a condition to making the loan, exactly that amount of funds for which the lender might be liable, if the borrower defaults.<sup>35</sup> The lender, therefore, could protect itself from borrower default if the lender was required to redeem the property and pay to an association the debt of the defaulting borrower. Accordingly, the association would be assured a payment of 6 months of assessments if the borrower/homeowner defaulted on his obligations to his association. This is the "equitable balance" that was reached between "the need to enforce collection of unpaid assessments and the obvious necessity for protecting the priority of the security interests of lenders."<sup>36</sup> As one court determined, "What this statute does, by granting a six months priority to a condo association, is to accommodate the competing needs of a condo association faced with delinquent assessments, and a lender simultaneously seeking to protect the priority of its security interest." River Glen Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Woulfe, 1995 WL 243346 (Conn.Super., 1995).

# ii. The Certainty of a Fixed Amount was Needed to Induce Lenders to Lend in Developers' New Communities

In the 1980's and 1990's, with property prices generally increasing and developers building common interest communities in many of the states, it made

1

2

3

4

5

7

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> AA0284-0296.

<sup>35</sup> AA0293-0294

<sup>36</sup> AA0293-0294

19 20

18

21 22

23

24

2526

27

28

abundant sense to limit the super priority lien to a finite figure. Indeed, during the time of residential real estate expansion, developers of residential communities crafted "lender friendly" mortgagee protection provisions into their CC&RS to ensure lenders would lend in the developer's community.<sup>37</sup> Without certainty of what the lender's liability was for a superior encumbrance over its first mortgage, lenders' reluctance to finance the purchase of new residential units in a common interest community might quell development and impede sales of units. This, of course, would stifle the developer's singular intention, i.e., to sell each and every residential unit within the community (and, presumably, the Nevada legislature's intention of making sure newly arriving residents would have an ample housing supply). To maximize liquidity and facilitate loans to buyers in these common interest communities declarants/developers expressly included in their CC&RS either total subordination provisions allowing for no super priority lien at all, or super priority liens limited to a finite figure of 6 months of common expenses as noted in the periodic budget.<sup>38</sup> Without guarantees of loan priority, or at least a definitive super priority lien amount, lenders may have been unwilling to lend to unit purchasers or would make the cost of such a loan prohibitively expensive. This would have not been in the interest of either the developer, or the unit purchaser.

Indeed, if the super priority lien statute called for a limitless superior lien, in loaning a borrower, for example, \$100,000.00 for the purchase of a home, the lender could easily be hit with a super priority lien of \$10,000 or \$20,000 (i.e., a considerable percentage of the principal amount of the loan). Such a flexible and limitless statute could very possibly take every penny of profit the lender made from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See e.g., Section 7.8 and 7.9 of CC&RS limiting super priority lien to 6 months of assessments at AA0184 and Article 12 at AA0193-0194.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> See e.g., Section 7.8 and 7.9 of CC&RS limiting super priority lien to 6 months of assessments at AA0184.

the loan or result in irrational and unsustainable losses, thus having an enormous negative impact on both the primary and secondary mortgage markets regarding Nevada residential loans. The result of such a statute would likely be that no bank would lend money secured by residential mortgages in this State, nor would Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or investors of private mortgage pooling trusts purchase such risky loans.

# iii. The Recent Changing Economic Climate Does Not Alter the Original Policy of a Limited Super Priority Lien Amount

While the economic climate and housing market may have changed dramatically in the last 7 years, such a recent downturn cannot be considered in determining the meaning of a statute which was passed in 1991. Appellant and the Amicus Curiae advance the argument that the plain language of NRS 116.3116(2) is unfair or produces an absurd result because it only grants associations a limited super priority lien in an amount likely to be less that what is owed to them by the delinquent homeowner. However, this is an argument as to why the existing law may need to change in today's economy, not an argument as to why the law was written the way it was back at a time of residential real estate expansion (when developers needed banks to lend money to purchasers of units within the developments). Developers needed lenders, and lenders needed certainty regarding their downside liability. The equitable "deal" was made years ago and NRS 116.3116(2) does not change simply because present day economic circumstances have changed. With the limited and finite super priority lien contained in Section 3-116 of the UCIOA, the lenders and the associations each got what they needed... an "equitable balance." <sup>39</sup>

Ultimately, public policy arguments may give context to NRS 116.3116(2) and explain the reasoning behind why it is limited, but whether Appellant likes or dislikes the language of NRS 116.3116(2) is irrelevant. As courts have held regarding the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> AA0293-0294 Comments, UCIOA 1994, page 159-160.

super priority lien, while parties may disagree with the equities of a statute, such matters are not for the judiciary, but rather for the legislature that enacted the statute. Hudson House Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. Brooks, 223 Conn. 610, 616, 611 A.2d 862, 865 (1992). If Appellant believes that collection costs should be added on top of the super priority lien, it should lobby the legislature to change the existing law. Indeed, such proposals have been made in 2009, 2011 and 2013.<sup>40</sup> The Nevada legislature has rejected the proposals on each occasion.

It should be noted that in 2009, instead of changing NRS 116.3116(2) to allow for collection costs on top of the super priority lien, the legislature increased the super priority lien amount from a figure equaling 6 months of assessments based upon the periodic budget to a figure equaling 9 months of assessments based upon the periodic budget. In 2009, the legislature also added certain exterior unit repairs costs to the super priority lien (see NRS 116.3116(2) and NRS 116.310312). However, unlike the State of Connecticut which changed its super priority lien statute to include 6 months of assessments, "and (B) the association's costs and attorney's fees in enforcing its lien....", the Nevada legislature specifically rejected such language.

#### iv. A Self Inflicted Problem

Despite the transparent legislative history of the UCIOA aimed at balancing the interests of lenders and associations, Appellant still posits that after a bank forecloses, the statute limiting the association's super priority lien to 9 months of assessments is absurd because the association is owed more than the 9 months of assessments by the underlying delinquent homeowner. In the face of an unambiguous statute, countless fairness and public policy arguments are advanced by Appellant to justify the growing of the association debt (by the addition of thousands of dollars of collection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See Section J, infra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> C.G.S. Section 47-258(b) as amended by No. 91-359 of the Public Acts of 1991

fees) and making the lender (and Respondent) a *de facto* guarantor of that enhanced and bloated debt. However, why homeowners' associations decide to adopt a practice designed to bill thousands of dollars of collection and foreclosure related costs on already defaulting mortgagors and to permit years of assessment delinquencies to accrue without itself ever actually foreclosing on a unit is a mystery of epic proportions. First lenders commonly have already filed their notice of default pursuant to their promissory notes and deeds of trust. Associations have absolutely no purpose to compound additional collection fees and costs when the borrower is already in default and facing the loss of his home.

The associations generally advance the inequitable position that the addition of thousands of dollars of collection fees yield debtor compliance in the payment of a few hundred dollar assessment debt. The unfortunate truth is that association collection agencies (with permission of the associations) unilaterally grow what is normally a few hundred dollar homeowner delinquent assessment debt to thousands of dollars which include \$150 collection demand letters, \$400 single page Notices of Default, \$325 single page Notices of Delinquent Assessment "liens," \$275 single page Notices of Sale, \$150 single page escrow demand letters, and countless hundreds of dollars of recording fees, postage fees, publication fees, and title search fees (all which are funneled to collection agents) (see NAC 116.470). To complain that associations' are damaged by not being able to collect collection costs (which they never actually pay to collection agencies in the first place)<sup>42</sup> when the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>Collection agreements generally call for the collection agent to be paid by the homeowner, not the association. As explained by Andra Behrens, Vice President of Nevada Association Services, one of the largest association collection agents, "If you never worked with Nevada Association Services, you really have nothing to lose to give us a try. It's no cost to the association... You're signing a consent and authorization form, and that just allows us to collect on behalf of the association. It is not a contract." See <a href="http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hcHf584gNq4">http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hcHf584gNq4</a>. Further, as

associations and collection agents are aware of a first lenders' pending foreclosure is a self-created, self-inflicted and self-perpetuated problem.

# B. NRS 116.3116(2) IS UNAMBIGUOUS, CLEAR AND PLAIN. COURTS SHALL NOT GO BEYOND THE LANGUAGE OF SUCH STATUTES

"[W]here a statute is clear on its face, a court may not go beyond the language of the statute in determining the legislature's intent." Diaz v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Clark 116 Nev. 88, 94, 993 P.2d 50 (2000). Therefore, the first inquiry this Court shall presumably make is regarding the clarity of NRS 116.3116(2). If the statute is clear, no interpretation is permitted and the Court's inquiry ends. As the Colorado Court of Appeals has stated regarding its super priority lien statute (virtually identical to Nevada's):

"If a statute is clear and unambiguous on its face, we need not look beyond the plain language and must apply the statute as written.... The [Super Priority Lien] Act is such a statute." *BA Mortg., LLC v. Quail Creek Condominium Ass'n, Inc.* 192 P.3d 447, 450 (Colo.App.,2008).

In so determining, the Colorado Appellate Court in *BA Mortgage* concluded, "... that the trial court did not err in concluding that upon foreclosure by the lender, the association's lien for unpaid assessments was senior to that of the lender's first deed of trust to the extent of six months of assessments." *BA Mortgage, LLC v. Quail Creek Condo. Ass'n, Inc.*, 192 P.3d 447, 451 (Colo. Ct. App. 2008). As shall be discussed below, Nevada and Colorado's super priority lien statutes are similar, are unambiguous, and should require a parallel application.

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